SES KITE

Residential Accommodation

Travel and Transport Policy and Practice

Date created or revised: 1222 Date of next review: 0623

SES Kite Ltd (12634002) is a subsidiary company of Specialist Education Services Topco Ltd (13159680)

CONTENTS

1	INTRODUCTION			
2	ACCOUNTABILITY			
3	USE OF TAXIS AND PRIVATE HIRE CARS			
	3.1 Internal Procedures And Communication			
4	PLANNING TRANSPORT			
	4.1 Risk Assessment	3		
	4.4 Supervision On Transport	3		
5	USE OF PRIVATE CARS			
6	SEAT BELTS, SEATING ARRANGEMENTS AND THE LAW			
	6.1 What Does the Law Say About Seatbelts	6		
	6.2 Where Should Children and Young Adults Sit?	7		
7	PROCEDURES IN THE EVENT OF AN ACCIDENT	8		
8	CONTROL ISSUES IN DOMESTIC VEHICLES			
9	COACH AND BUS TRAVEL			
10	TRAVEL BY SEA			
11	TRAVEL BY RAIL			
12	TRAVEL BY AIR			
13	TRAVEL ABROAD			
14	INSURANCE	11		
15	APPENDICES			
	Appendix A: Ten Simple Rules To Help You After An Accident			
	Appendix B: Vehicle Accident Sheet			

1 INTRODUCTION

In the operation of SES Kite establishments there will be a range of travel and transport issues to consider. They may involve our staff, or other adults or both.

Journeys may be short or long (e.g. the local swimming pool or Alton Towers), and at home or abroad (e.g. Suffolk, East Anglia, UK, Europe, Africa). The vast majority of journeys will be via road transport and more often than not by car, however variations may include taxis, staff vehicles, or other operators vehicles (e.g. coach or minibus). Some journeys may involve vehicles driven by others e.g. tour operators or public transport. Indeed there may be need to travel by rail, air or sea depending upon destinations and the type of experiences chosen. Interwoven with the whole range above will also be considerations around risk assessment and insurance.

The SES "Educational, Social and Leisure Visits and Activities Policy and Practice" document becomes a critical document to read and understand in relation to the Travel and Transport Policy and Practice document. It is expected that staff will have knowledge of both.

2 **ACCOUNTABILITY**

SES Ltd must satisfy itself that all travel arrangements, including the hire of private coaches or buses, are suitable for the nature of the visit. This responsibility is delegated to the Principal and Young Adult Residential Support Manager for certain types of journey, where they do not need to seek company approval at Director level. All must, however, comply with all the guidance in this document.

3 USE OF TAXIS AND PRIVATE HIRE CARS

The use of taxis or private hire car may take place for the following reasons:

- Transport to and from a young adult's family home at holidays and weekends.
- Transport to and from education elsewhere, e.g. post 16 college attendance.
- As part of a young adult's individual programme in building up experience of semi independent or independent travel.
- In exceptional circumstances as an alternative to the use of staff's own car because of specific reasons.

3.1 INTERNAL PROCEDURES

- All young adults who use taxis to have a written risk assessment for taxi travel outlining any special requirements (if required).
- Risk Assessments only formally changed on the back of feedback from journeys and communicated with whole team.

4 PLANNING TRANSPORT

When considering the journey element of any visit or activity, there are certain constraints that will determine the kind of transport to be used, the planned breaks and whether more than one driver will be required.

- passenger safety
- passenger tolerance
- the competence and training of the driver to drive the proposed vehicle and whether the driver holds the appropriate valid licence
- number of driving hours required for the journey and length of the driver's day (including non-driving hours)
- capacity and experience of driver to maintain concentration whether more than one driver is required to avoid driver fatigue
- transport infrastructure motorway, rail, etc.
- traffic conditions and the route to be taken
- contingency funds and arrangements in case of breakdown
- distance
- cost
- seasonal conditions
- appropriate insurance cover
- stopping points on journey for toilet, comfort breaks and refreshments
- the overall workload of those who are acting as supervisors and drivers (for example, whether they have already done a day's work before setting out).

4.1 RISK ASSESSMENT

There is reference to car travel written into the Generic Risk Assessment within the visits and activities section of the staff network area. This is sound generic procedure but each journey is different and each young person may be very different in respect of their responses to travel and the issues this presents. Each young adult has their own full and comprehensive risk assessment that relates to a range of issues and behaviours. Implications regarding risks during travel and transport should be overtly clear within this and where necessary a full management plan should be in place. These plans are reviewed on a monthly basis or immediately in the light of significant events.

Although there are specific formats for risk assessment, it must be understood that the totality of risk assessment is actually the full planning process prior to the trip and the ongoing dynamic assessment during the trip/journey in the light of emerging events, unforeseen and otherwise.

The Driver is responsible for the vehicle and its condition throughout the visit.

4.2 SUPERVISION ON TRANSPORT

The level of supervision necessary should form part of the risk assessment for the journey. The Visit Leader is responsible for the party at all times, including maintaining good discipline. The Principal and YARSM must be confident that the approved Visit Leader is competent to achieve this.

All group members should be made aware of the position of the exit doors, first aid kit and fire fighting equipment on the transport.

The Visit Leader should also be aware of alternative routes or means of travel in the event of delay or cancellation. These should also have been risk assessed as part of the alternative arrangement/contingency plans at the planning stage.

Factors that the Visit Leader should consider when planning supervision on transport include:

- Level of supervision that will be necessary (e.g. differences between single young adult, single vehicle and double-decker buses/coaches/or trains).
- Safety when crossing roads. Pedestrian crossings, traffic lights and footbridges should be used to cross roads whenever possible.
- Safety on all forms of transportation. The Visit Leader should make clear to young adults how much or how little freedom they have to 'roam'. This should have been agreed with the YARSM prior to departure.
- Misbehaviour is a main cause of accidents to young adults on transport.
 Appropriate levels of adult supervision and good discipline should be maintained at all times.
- Young adults should, as their age permits, be made aware of what to do in an emergency and what emergency procedures are.
- Seating arrangements on any form of transport should be considered and where appropriate and possible should be booked well in advance
- Safety of young adults whilst waiting at pick-up and drop-off points and when getting on and off transport – particularly important when using UK transport abroad. Young adults must be made aware of safety rules and expected standards of behaviour.
- Safety while on stops or rests during the journey.
- Safety of the group in the event of an accident or breakdown the group should remain under the direct supervision of the Visit Leader or other staff, wherever possible.
- Head counts, by the Visit Leader or another delegated adult, should always be carried out when the group is getting off or onto transport. It is good practice to double-check this to ensure the accuracy and reliability of the initial check.
- The Visit Leader has responsibility to check that all seat belts are fastened and adjusted appropriately

5 USE OF PRIVATE CARS

All staff are required to have personal transport (i.e. a car) available for business use whilst on direct duty with young adults.

Specialist Education Services maintains an insurance policy that covers staff cars whilst on company business. All staff should ensure that their personal motor insurance includes business use cover. Commercial vehicles (i.e. vans) are not covered by company insurance and are not suitable, unless specific personal insurance is in place to allow use with young adults.

Staff and others who drive young adults in their own car must ensure their passengers' safety.

If a staff member is guilty of a road traffic offence whilst in charge of children/young adults then disciplinary procedures will be considered and implemented. Each offence will be considered individually. The outcome of these procedures will depend on a number of factors some of which may be:

- The previous track record of the employee
- The seriousness, nature and context of the offence together with the employee's recognition of such.
- Any other mitigating circumstances.

A staff member holds personal responsibility for the payment of any fines or charges incurred by road traffic offences whilst on company business.

A mileage allowance is claimable for personal transport use (see Staff Handbook).

An annual check of driving record and vehicle documentation is completed for all staff in January each year. The following documents are required:

- DVLA Licence check printout
- Vehicle insurance certificate
- Current MOT and Tax check printout

The YARSM oversees this process. Copies of the above documents should be presented to the Administrator at the Main Office by new staff at their soonest convenience.

Any change of status in any of these documents should be reported to the administrator immediately and new copies provided.

All road users have a duty to maintain their vehicles in a roadworthy and safe condition. Staff are reminded of this and appropriate checks should be undertaken prior to use and at regular intervals.

It is important to note that adult behaviour behind the wheel of any vehicle is a useful role modelling opportunity for staff as is courtesy to other road users whilst driving.

There are times when staff are due at work for meetings and are not directly part of the shift team. On such occasions staff are not expected to have a car available, therefore if colleagues want to partake in different modes of transport to work such as car sharing, public transport or cycling then this is something that SES Ltd would encourage and welcome. It also has the following potential benefits:

- Cost savings for staff members.
- Environmental benefits in terms of CO2 emissions and traffic volume.
- Less pressure on Car Parking space.

6 SEAT BELTS, SEATING ARRANGEMENTS AND THE LAW

6.1 WHAT DOES THE LAW SAY ABOUT SEAT BELTS?

You MUST wear a seat belt in cars, vans and other goods vehicles if one is fitted (see table below). Adults, and children aged 14 years and over, MUST use a seat belt or child restraint, where fitted, when seated in minibuses, buses and coaches. Exemptions are allowed for the holders of medical exemption certificates and those making deliveries or collections in goods vehicles when travelling less than 50 metres (approx 162 feet).

The table overleaf summarises the main legal requirements for wearing seat belts in cars, vans and other goods vehicles.

We are in loco parentis and our own policy states that the driver is responsible for ensuring all children and young adults, including those over 14 yrs are wearing seat belts. The law stating that it is the passenger's responsibility would not be considered a defence in any disciplinary proceedings involving any negligence in respect of this duty.

With regard to the age and height criteria, (12yr old and 1.35 metres), it is clear that wherever a child sits they require the correct booster seat. Information on admission and ongoing monitoring of height will inform the correct purchase and use of booster/restraint seats.

Seat Belt Requirements	Front seat	Rear seat	Who is responsible?
Driver	Seat belt MUST be worn if fitted		Driver
Child under 3 years of age	Correct child restraint MUST be used	Correct child restraint MUST be used. If one is not available in a taxi, may travel unrestrained.	Driver
Child from 3rd birthday up to 1.35 metres in height (or 12th birthday, whichever they reach first)	Correct child restraint MUST be used	Correct child restraint MUST be used where seat belts fitted. MUST use adult belt if correct child restraint is not available in a licensed taxi or private hire vehicle, or for reasons of unexpected necessity over a short distance, or if two occupied restraints prevent fitment of a third.	Driver
Child over 1.35 metres (approx 4ft 5ins) in height or 12 or 13 years	Adult seat belt MUST be worn if available	Adult seat belt MUST be worn if available	Driver

Adult pa	ssengers	Seat belt MUST	Seat belt MUST be worn if	Passenger
aged 14	and over	be worn if	available	
		available		

6.2 WHERE SHOULD CHILDREN AND YOUNG ADULTS SIT?

Firstly there is no fixed rule to this and there are a number of factors and variables to consider:

- The Law in respect of age and height
- Age, maturity (size and behaviour)
- The number of children or young adults
- The mix of children or young adults and their relationships with each other and with respective adults
- Individual Risk Assessments and Daily Care
- The size and nature of the vehicle
- Adult confidence and authority

All advice and safety guidance in the event of an accident is consistent and suggests the rear is the safest place for children:

"Children are best carried in the rear. The most common type of accident involves an impact to the front of the car, which means that the back seat is a safer place to travel.

The centre rear seat is the safest place of all - assuming the child is properly restrained in a suitable child seat - because here they are less likely to hit or be hit by deforming, intruding structures in the most common frontal and side impacts."

(AA Website August 2014)

However in respect of **one adult and one child** being in the car the AA also state:

"Having said that the back is the safest, if it's just you and one child in the car then it might be best for the child to ride up-front - as long as they use an appropriate child restraint. The closer contact may be more reassuring for the child and less distracting for you, therefore reducing the risk of an accident."

(AA Website August 2014)

Our experience in the work with children and young adults who have severe emotional and social and mental health problems suggests that this issue is even more magnified. Relationships are key, as are messages of trust in relation to minimising risks of poor behaviour, the front seat is usually more conducive in this respect.

Any history of challenging behaviour, anxiety and unpredictability with our children and young adults will influence driver awareness and risk assessment, therefore it is preferable to have the child or young adult in peripheral vision, alongside in the front seat. Also, in the rare event of dangerous behaviour or interference it is easier to control and make safe if the individual is next to you as opposed to behind you.

To be absolutely clear:

One adult one child/young adult: child/young adult in the front seat, unless the individual Risk Assessment states differently. If that child is under 12 yrs old and less than 1.35m in height a correct booster seat must be used PLUS the passenger airbag must be turned off and the seat pushed as far back as it will go.

Two adults one child/young adult: If the assessment is that a second adult is required then the second adult occupies the seat directly behind the driver and the child/young adult occupies the rear passenger seat.

Two adults two children/young adults: This configuration is identical to the one above with the second child/young adult in the front seat taking into account the age and height issue.

Considerations and Variations

As always adults are expected to make dynamic risk assessments and common sense judgements that have a clear rationale and commons sense logic for decisions according to circumstance.

The adults on duty are best informed to know the children and young adults, the dynamic at the time and will therefore make the decisions about seating on that basis, bearing in mind the above guidance.

Preparing Young Adults

Preparation of the young adults prior to getting into the vehicle is key to the success of the journey. Staff adults clearly need to be in charge. Individual and peer conflict should be avoided by having clear criteria, expectations and rationale that is explained to the young adults. It is better to have this conversation in the building rather than in the vehicle.

7 PROCEDURES IN THE EVENT OF AN ACCIDENT

The law requires that you stop if there is injury or damage to any person or vehicle, property or certain animals, including dogs and horses. You must give your name, address and insurance details to anyone with reasonable grounds for asking – whether there is injury or not.

If the vehicle does not belong to you, you must give the registration number and the name and address of the owner.

If an accident involves injury to people or certain animals or causes damage to property you must report it to the police as soon as possible and certainly within 24 hours.

The following appendices will help you deal with things more effectively in the event of an accident:

Appendix A: Ten Simple Rules To Help You After An Accident

Appendix B: Vehicle Accident Sheet

8 CONTROL ISSUES IN DOMESTIC VEHICLES

At all times the driver of the car is the person in control of all decisions appertaining to the operation and seating of the vehicle. It is important that staff adults set or remind young adults about expectations and limits before getting in to the vehicle. If there are any problems whatsoever with this, the journey should not start. Equally if problems arise during the journey, the driver must decide whether to stop to address the issues.

The person (s) responsible for completing car induction for new staff should:

- ensure that drivers of cars are aware of their responsibilities.
- understand basic control issues within vehicles

Care should be taken to be aware of individual risk assessments in case they have a bearing on seating, numbers, etc. Where there is an identified risk and two adults are required to be with the young adult, one adult should be seated in the rear behind the driver. If at any time there are concerns about a young adult's behaviour in transport, the YARSM must be informed and advice taken.

Issues around any form of physical intervention must be referred to the Team Teach sub-committee in order for this to be considered and incorporated into training where appropriate.

9 COACH AND BUS TRAVEL

The YARSM and Visit Leader are responsible for ensuring that coaches and buses are hired from a reputable company. Coach companies may be able to supply the names of previous users who may provide a reference.

When arranging travel by coach, it is important to carry out the following procedures.

These must be attended to by the Visit Leader or another responsible member of staff:

- Make sure seat belts are fitted (whilst seat belts must be fitted on coaches which carry groups of children, they are not legally required on buses. Buses where seat belts are not fitted are not appropriate for visits involving a long journey).
- Before allowing young adults on board, check the general appearance of the coach to make sure it appears to be in a serviceable condition and draw any obvious defects to the Driver's attention.
- Ensure young adults remain seated and wear seatbelts.
- Make sure luggage is stowed safely without blocking emergency exits.
- Make sure staff sit in different areas of the coach to ensure supervision of young adults.

- Make sure there is a mobile phone on the coach (if you are going abroad, take a mobile phone that works where you are going.).
- Remember that UK coaches will have exits that open to roadsides abroad not pavements as in the UK.
- Follow any specific safety guidelines or protocols issued by the provider.

For a longer journey, and especially with younger children, it is best to use a coach that has a toilet on board. It is wise to check the location of the toilet and the surrounding area, for example, is there a side exit door that could accidentally be opened?

The Visit Leader should check the interior condition of the coach when young adults disembark at the end of a journey, to ensure that no damage has been carried out during the hire period.

All coaches taken abroad from the UK must meet the above guidelines. Foreign transport arranged for use while abroad must come as near as possible to these standards and must be in accordance with local legislation. Where this results in a different specification, parents/carers must be made aware of this before the journey to ensure Informed Parental Consent.

10 TRAVEL BY SEA

A ship or ferry can offer a variety of risks. To minimise these, Visit Leaders should:

- brief young adults about procedures before the journey and give a reminder to all participants prior to embarkation;
- ensure that all participants know what to do if they become lost or disorientated on board:
- agree safety procedures and socially acceptable standards of behaviour;
- arrange a permanently staffed meeting point for young adults in the group;
- arrange check-in times well before docking;
- determine how the group should split up to move around, as determined through the assessment of risk process, including on-going risk assessment;
- indicate to young adults any areas to be off-limits and check that this is observed – especially when sea conditions are bad;
- if appropriate, plan on-board activities;
- if possible, arrange an agreed group seating area.

11 TRAVEL BY RAIL

Wherever possible, seats should be booked in advance to reduce costs. Visit Leaders should:

- brief young adults beforehand about procedures and make them aware of dangers, for example, from standing too close to the edge of the platform, leaning out of windows, moving between carriages, etc.
- agree safety procedures and socially acceptable standards of behaviour.

Some young adult may travel independently as part of a growing social skills programme or to travel home and back at weekends and holidays. In such cases this is fully underpinned through risk assessment, care planning and growing independence evident within care planning structures.

12 TRAVEL BY AIR

In general, air travel is more rigidly controlled, leaving less opportunity for young adults to misbehave. Much of the information for travel by sea or rail applies.

- Young adults should be reminded about aviation regulations relating to the taking of items not belonging to themselves.
- Young adults need to comply willingly with all security measures.
- Visit Leaders should ensure sufficient time to book in. Some airlines will open a special desk to book large groups in check with the operator.
- Young adults and parents should be made aware of the aviation restrictions pertinent with regard to size/weight of luggage and hand baggage.

13 TRAVEL ABROAD

Consideration for journeys abroad is automatically referred to the Principal via the YARSM and will also involve approval from the Directors. Much of the above guidance applies to visits abroad, but equally each trip under consideration will require additional, specifically tailored discussion and advice with the Visit Leader and staff team, including advice from the foreign office with regard to particular countries or regions.

It is highly likely that such arrangements will involve tour companies or adventure activity operators and many factors will be considered in the Risk Assessment and Planning and Preparation.

14 INSURANCE

The YARSM and Visit Leader must ensure, well before the group departs, that adequate insurance arrangements are in place. SES Ltd has worldwide travel insurance and the YARSM will check that all aspects of the proposed journey are within the remit of the insurance cover. The YARSM can only check against the details and plans forwarded for approval, therefore it is important that the visit leader keeps the YARSM fully informed of any changes to itinerary and/or travel arrangements and updates the field file accordingly.

A copy of the travel insurance policy is kept centrally in the SES Ltd office.

The Company's travel policy covers all authorised trips carried out anywhere in the world and for any authorised activity. The policy year normally runs from 1 April to 31 March. The policy covers all authorised members of the party, including staff, volunteer helpers and young adults.

Other members of the party, such as a relative of one of the staff adults who is on the trip but not acting in a supervisory role, are not insured under the travel policy. Such circumstances would be rare. However, these people should make their own insurance arrangements. The Company does not allow supervisory adults to take their own children on a visit or journey.

The Visit Leader should inform parents and placing authorities about the levels of insurance cover in place and the scope of what is included and excluded from the policies. It is recommended that a copy of the journey policy be given to the parents and placement authorities of each young adult on the trip as early as possible in the booking process.

When third parties are used to organise parts of the trip, such as travel companies, coach hire businesses or activity providers, the group organiser should check each of the bodies have public liability insurance. A minimum of £5 million is recommended.

There are restrictions within the company's insurance in respect of staff that accumulate points on their license in relation to traffic offences. Currently staff with more than 7 points are required to cease use of their car until the insurer makes a decision regarding continued cover for the individual concerned. To facilitate this, a copy of the driving license is sent to the insurers. Their response will depend on the nature of the offence but could, for example, lead to an increase in the excess charged. The staff member will therefore be liable for paying the additional excess charge should the company have to pay the excess following an accident.

Should a member of staff accumulate penalty points that cause them to be uninsurable for a period of time in respect of company business, then the matter will be considered under the companies disciplinary procedures.

15 APPENDICES

Appendix A: Ten Simple Rules To Help You After An Accident

Appendix B: Vehicle Accident Sheet

TEN SIMPLE RULES TO HELP YOU AFTER AN ACCIDENT

In an accident most people freeze or panic.
This guide gives you clear things to do to ensure you respond effectively.

- 1 Switch off the engine.
- 2 Don't let anyone at the scene smoke there may be a fuel leak.
- 3 Unless they are seriously injured, get all passengers to leave the car and go to a place of safety.
- 4 If anyone is injured, call an ambulance and the police.
- **Do not move a seriously injured person.** Loosen any tight clothing and cover the person with a coat or rug.
- 6 Do not move vehicles (unless there is a danger to traffic) until police arrive. If the police are not attending, do not move vehicles until an independent person has noted their positions.
- 7 Take steps top warn other traffic of an obstruction use hazard warning lights or warning triangle. At night, ensure that no one stands near the car it is dangerous and they could cover up the lights.
- 8 Record the important information in the accident record sheet (see below)
- **9 Do not apologise or admit to any fault.** Who is to blame will be decided later.
- 10 Call the YARSM or the SES Principal/Deputy Principal to inform them and get advice.

13

Specialist Education Services: Vehicle Accident Record Sheet

Did anyone see the accident? Ask for bystanders details, particularly anyone who was not involved in the accident.
Name:
Address:
Tel. No
Were there other vehicles involved? Record registration numbers first (owners can be traced if they leave without giving information)
Reg. No
Vehicle Type:
Driver's Name:
Address:
Tel. No
Damage:
Insurers:
Was anyone injured? Try to get their details if possible.
Name: Name:
Address: Address:
Tel. No Tel. No
Where seated? What injuries? Where seated? What injuries?

Was there any property damage? Include street lights, bollards, trees, fences, etc.
Type and Nature of Damage:
What happened? Make brief notes. Include street and place names.
What did the accident scene look like? Draw a rough map of the scene showing the relative placement of vehicles on the road, and clearly showing where vehicles came from and ended up. Show any lane markings.

Where and when was the accident?				
Date:				
Time (24 hr clock): Daylight Twilight Dark				
Visibility:				
Place:				
Nearest Town:				
Weather conditions:				
Road conditions:				
Road width:				
Speed limits:				
Street lights: None On Off Good Poor				
Did police attend? Yes No				
Was the accident reported? Yes No				